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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 

THE PEOPLE OF THE ST A TE OF 
CALIFORNIA by and through JOHN 
GARAMENDI, INSURANCE COMMISSIONE
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
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vs. 
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The People of the State of California, by and through John Garamendi as the Insurance 

Commissioner of the State of California (the "Insurance Commissioner"), complain ag inst insurance 

broker defendants Universal Life Resources, ULR Insurance Services, Inc., Benefits ommerce, and 

Doug P. Cox (the "ULR Defendants" or "ULR"), and certain insurance company defen ants MetLife, 

Inc., Prudential Financial, Inc., CIGNA Corporation, and UnumProvident Corporatio (the "Insurer 

Defendants") and allege as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

I. The Insurance Commissioner ofthe State ofCalifornia is vested with the uty and power 

to protect the rights ofall Californians as it relates to the activities ofinsurance agents, b okers, insurers 

and others conducting the business of insurance within California. The Insurance Com issioner brings 

this action pursuant to Cal. Ins. Code § 12928.6 to enjoin defendants from continuing un awful conduct 

targeting California policyholders, including businesses, organizations, employers, mployees and 

others that have purchased insurance products and services from or through defendants. In violation of 

Cal. Ins. Code §§332, 781, 790.02, 790.03, 1065.1, and 1759.10, defendants have cone aled hundreds 

of millions of dollars in undisclosed or inadequately disclosed fees, commissi ns and other 

compensation paid to the ULR Defendants as kickbacks by the Insurer Defendants i 

ULR Defendants steering their clients to purchase insurance policies and other services 

Defendants. This compensation typically has taken the form of "contingent co 

"overrides" based upon volume, persistency and profitability of the placed business, and excessive 

"Communication Fees" or "Enrollment Fees." These fees and commissions have been aid pursuant to 

compensation agreements entered into between the ULR Defendants and Insurer Defend ts. The costs 

for these arrangements are ultimately borne by California policyholders who pure ase insurance 

policies and other services to cover risks related to the lives and health of their emplo ees. 

2. In the increasingly complex and sophisticated business of insuran e, businesses., 

employers and other entities often tum to insurance consultants, brokers or agents ("hr kers") to help 

them select, negotiate and procure insurance policies and other services. Brokers speci lize in a range 

ofareas of insurance including commercial lines such as professional liability; employe -benefits plans 

including group life, health and disability; and personal lines such as auto, home, life nd health. 
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3. The ULR Defendants purportedly provide specialized advice, xpertise and 

recommendations to employers and their employees in developing, implementing d modifying 

employee-benefit plans for their employees. Ordinarily, their clients are employers loo 

group life and accidental death, long term disability, health and supplemental group pl s as part of, or 

as a supplement to, the employers' employee-benefit plan. The brokers' clients r ly on them to 

determine which insurance products and services best fit the needs of both the e loyer and its 

employees, and from which insurance carriers to purchase those products and services. 

4. ULR Defendants purport to provide independent and unbiased brokerage and consulting 

services to their clients. As brokers, they have a fiduciary duty to find the most suitable overage at the 

lowest cost for their clients, to put the interests of their clients ahead of their own and o exercise the 

utmost duty ofcandor and full disclosure. The ULR Defendants have a duty to disclose e sources and 

amounts of all income and other remuneration in whatever form received from y transactions 

involving their clients. It is because ofULR Defendants' proffered expertise and promis ofobjectivity 

that clients engage the ULR Defendants' services. However, as detailed below, the 

have engaged in a massive scheme with Insurer Defendants to profit at the expense o Californians. 

5. In conjunction with the ULR Defendants, Insurer Defendants have c ntracted with 

California's insureds to provide employee-benefit plans and other insurance pro ucts. Insurer 

Defendants have a duty under the California Insurance Code to disclose all materi 1 facts to the 

policyholders relating to their insurance policies, including compensation paid the brok rs thereto, but 

they have failed to do so as described herein. 

6. Defendants have engaged and continue to engage in a scheme and co on course of 

conduct to steer ULR Defendants' clients to purchase insurance policies from Ins 

through agreements that provide contingent commissions ( aka overrides) and other disclosed or 

inadequately disclosed compensation to ULR Defendants. Defendants use a number ofe phemisms for 

these improper steering agreements, such "special compensation service agreements," 'direct vendor 

marketing agreements" and "preferred broker compensation plans." The steering agre ments provide 

further compensation (in addition to standard consulting fees or commissions) paid y the Insurer 

Defendants to ULR Defendants based on such factors as: (a) the total volume of i surance ULR 
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Defendants place with a particular insurer; (b) the renewal ofthat business (i.e., persiste cy); and (c) its 

profitability, i.e., total amount of claims paid and loss ratios. All of these factors are c ntrolled by the 

defendants, who manipulate the market for insurance placed for their clients. These greements are 

akin to profit-sharing arrangements between ULR Defendants and Insurer Defe These 

agreements constitute a blatant conflict of interest because the ULR Defendants have a irect financial 

interest in recommending only those insurance products that are offered by Insurer efendants with 

whom they have the undisclosed agreements and other arrangements. 

7. In addition, the ULR Defendants have exacted compensation through ther hidden or 

inadequately disclosed payments, such as "emollment fees," "communication fees," 'service fees," 

"finders fees" and/or "administration fees." In connection with the policies they p ace with ULR 

Defendants' clients, Insurer Defendants seek to offer their employees the opti to purchase 

supplemental insurance coverage, such as supplemental life or long-term disability, whi h typically has 

higher profit margins than the basic plans offered by the employer. Defendants fail to d sclose either to 

the employer or the employee that these additional "fees" paid to the ULR Defendants re recouped by 

Insurer Defendants by building that cost into the premiums charged for supplemental in urance policies 

and "services." 

8. Second, the Insurer Defendants, in breach oftheir duties to existing clie ts, also engage 

in an industry practice known as "low hanging fruit," whereby the Insurer Defend s flip existing 

clients with whom they have direct contracts (no broker involvement) to ULR Defenda ts in return for 

the ULR Defendants steering their clients to the Insurer Defendants. 

9. Third, defendants have engaged in tying arrangements, whereby the pla ement ofULR 

Defendants' clients with the Insurer Defendants hinges upon promises of other c ients or other 

insurance business. 

10. As a result of these unlawful practices, defendants have and continue t increase their 

profits at the expense of California policyholders. ULR Defendants retain million of dollars in 

undisclosed fees, while purporting to provide independent and unbiased advice to th ir clients, and 

Insurer Defendants are able to fix, maintain or stabilize the premium rates paid by California 

policyholders at an artificially high level. 
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11. Defendants have exploited ULR Defendants' perceived position oftrust d expertise as 

insurance consultants, and Insurer Defendants' similar positions of trust vis-a-vis pur hasers of their 

insurance products and services. In these acts and practices, all of the defendants nam d herein have 

betrayed the public trust, and they must be enjoined to restore California policy olders' public 

confidence in the industry and prevent further harm and injury to Californians. 
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12. California policyholders have been harmed and continue to suffer harm by: (a) paying 

excessive premiums and undisclosed fees and charges for the insurance products and se ices that ULR 

Defendants purportedly undertook to negotiate on their behalf for the best possible term ; (b) receiving 

insurance that was more expensive and/or inferior to other available insurance produ ts; and ( c) not 

being reimbursed for money improperly collected. California policyholders have n t received the 

services for which they paid ULR Defendants, and Insurer Defendants in tum have pas ed the costs of 

their scheme onto California policyholders in the form of higher premiums and charg s for services, 

and/or inadequate coverage. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

13. This Court has jurisdiction over all causes of action asserted herein ursuant to the 

California Constitution, Article VI, §10 and the express statutory conferral ofjurisdicf on pursuant to 

Cal. Ins. Code §12928.6. 1 

14. This Court has jurisdiction over defendants Universal Life Resources, LR Insurance 

Services, Inc., Benefits Commerce, and Doug P. Cox because they are California resi 

15. This Court has jurisdiction over all other defendants because they have d continue to 

engage in the alleged acts and practices in California, are foreign insurers that condu t a substantial 

amount ofbusiness in California, and/or are authorized to sell insurance in California ei her directly or 

through their subsidiaries. Each defendant has sufficient minimum contacts with alifomia and 

otherwise intentionally avails itself of the laws and markets of California through t e promotion, 

marketing and distribution of insurance products and/or services within the State of Cal fomia so as to 

I 
All references to statutory code sections herein refer to the California Insuranc Code, unless 

otherwise indicated. 
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render the exercise ofjurisdiction by the California courts permissible. Each ofthe defi ndants provide 

services, conduct business and/or sell products in California. 

16. Venue is proper in this Court because all ULR Defendants are headquart red or reside in 

this County, and they and the other defendants transact substantial business in this Co ty. 

PARTIES 

17. PlaintiffJohn Garamendi is the Commissioner ofthe California Departm nt ofInsurance 

and is responsible for administering and enforcing the laws of the State of California relating to the 

business and/or conduct of insurance. 

18. Defendants Universal Life Resources, ULR Insurance Services, Inc., Ben fits Commerce 

and Doug P. Cox are referred to collectively herein as "ULR Defendants" or "ULR." 

(a) Defendant Universal Life Resources is a California Limited Part ership with its 

principal place ofbusiness in California. It is located at 12264 El Camino Real, Suite 3 3, San Diego, 

California. Universal Life Resources promotes itself as a national group life, acciden and disability 

consulting company that provides broker services to its clients, the insureds. Universal ife Resources 

purports to help "employers develop and implement improved plans that reduce co s for both the 

employer and its employees." Universal Life Resources is authorized to do business in California and 

does, in fact, conduct substantial business in California. 

(b) Defendant ULR Insurance Services, Inc. ("ULR Insurance") s a California 

corporation with its principal place of business in California. It is located at 12264 E Camino Real, 

Suite 303, San Diego, California. ULR Insurance is the general partner of Universal ife Resources, 

and it is the successor-in-interest of Universal Life Resources Insurance Services, Inc. and Universal 

Life Resources, Inc. ULR Insurance is a registered Life Agent with the California epartment of 

Insurance under license number OC36876, and conducts substantial business in Ca ifornia. ULR 

Insurance is authorized to sell insurance in California on behalf of Metropolitan ife Insurance 

Company, Prudential Insurance Company of America, Life Insurance Company of orth America, 

Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, Provident Life and Accident Insurance Company, and 

UnumProvident Life Insurance Company of America. 
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(c) Defendant Doug P. Cox ("Cox") resides at 7811 Sendero Angeli a, San Diego, 

California. Cox is the President and a limited partner ofUniversal Life Resources. Co 

Life Agent, under the license number 0848712, with the California Department oflns 

authorized to sell insurance in California on behalf ofMetropolitan Life Insurance Comp y, Prudential 

Insurance Company of America, Life Insurance Company of North America, Prov dent Life and 

Accident Insurance Company, and UnumProvident Life Insurance Company of Amer·ca. 

(d) Benefits Commerce is a California corporation owned and controlled by 

defendant Cox. It shares its corporate headquarters with the other ULR entities at 12 64 El Camino 

Real, Suite 303, San Diego, California 92130. Benefits Commerce is also an em loyee-benefits 

consultant. 

19. Defendant MetLife, Inc. ("MetLife") is a publicly-held company, inco orated in the 

State ofDelaware and headquartered in the State ofNew York. MetLife designs, develo s, markets and 

sells insurance products for individuals and business clients in California. For p oses of this 

Complaint, MetLife includes its subsidiary, Metropolitan Life Insurance Company "Metropolitan 

Life"), as well as other subsidiaries, affiliates, partnerships,joint ventures, divisions, bu iness units and 

affiliated entities that are authorized to sell insurance in California. MetLife wrote 6. % of its direct 

premiums in California in 2003, representing over $1.9 billion. Metropolitan Life's re ional office is 

located in Contra Costa County, California. Metropolitan Life has been authorized to do business in 

California since 1908, and it conducts business in this County and throughout Califo ia. 

20. Defendant Prudential Financial, Inc. ("Prudential") is a publicly- eld company 

incorporated in the State of New Jersey and which conducts substantial business in California. 

Prudential designs, develops, markets and sells insurance products for individuals and siness clients 

in California. For purposes of this Complaint, Prudential includes its subsidiary, he Prudential 

Insurance Company of America ("Prudential Insurance"), as well as its other subsidia ies, affiliates, 

partnerships, joint ventures, divisions, business units and affiliated entities that are au orized to sell 

insurance in this State. In 2003, Prudential Insurance collected 12.7% of its direc premiums m 

California, representing over $2.038 billion. Prudential Insurance conducts business in is County and 

throughout California, including maintaining an office in Woodland Hills, California. 
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I 21. Defendant CIGNA Corporation ("CIGNA") is a publicly-traded compa y incorporated 

in Delaware, headquartered in Pennsylvania and which does substantial business in Cali ornia. CIGNA 

is a leading provider of employee-benefits products in the United States. Throug its operating 

subsidiaries, CIGNA offers a broad array of products and services, including group !iii , accident and 

disability insurance for California businesses of all sizes. For purposes of this Com laint, CIGNA 

includes its subsidiaries, Life Insurance Company of North America and Connectic General Life 

Insurance, as ":ell as its other subsidiaries, affiliates, partnerships, joint ventures, divi ions, business 

units and affiliated entities that are authorized to sell insurance in California and con ct substantial 

business in this State. Life Insurance Company ofNorth America has been licensed t sell disability 

and life insurance in California since 1957. In 2003, 14.1% of its direct premiums ere written in 

California, representing over $223 million. Connecticut General Life Insurance Co pany has been 

authorized to sell disability and life insurance in California since 1913. In 2003, 9.71/o of its direct 

premiums were written in California, representing over $1.2 billion. 

22. Defendant UnumProvident Corporation ("UnumProvident") 1s a ublicly-traded 

company incorporated in Delaware and headquartered in Tennessee which, through its ubsidiaries, is 

the leading provider of group long-term, short-term and individual disability income roducts in the 

world, including in California. UnumProvident also leases and occupies a buildin in Glendale, 

California. For purposes of this Complaint, UnumProvident includes its subsidiaries, numProvident 

Life Insurance Company ofAmerica and Provident Life and Accident Insurance Com any, as well as 

other subsidiaries, affiliates, partnerships,joint ventures, divisions, business units and a 1liated entities 

that are authorized to sell insurance in California and conduct substantial busines in this State. 

UnumProvident Life Insurance Company ofAmerica, California Company I.D. No. 20 9-6, has been 

licensed to sell disability and life insurance in California. In 2003, 11.4% of its direct remiums were 

written in California, representing $490 million. Provident Life and Accident Insuranc Company has 

been licensed to sell disability and life insurance in California since 1928. In 2003, 81/o of its direct 

premiums were written in California, representing $127 million. 

23. The true names and capacities of the defendants named herein under .C.P. §474 as 

Does I through 500 are presently unknown to plaintiff, who therefore sues them by uch fictitious 
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names. Plaintiff will amend this Complaint to allege the true names and capacities of ese defendants 

when they have been determined. Each of the fictitiously named defendants is resp nsible in some 

manner for the conduct alleged herein. The Doe defendants are individuals, associatio s, partnerships, 

joint ventures, corporations, institutes or other entities who participated in the wrongful onduct alleged 

herein in ways that are unknown to plaintiff at this time. 

24. At all times mentioned in the causes ofaction alleged herein, each and e ery defendant 

sued under a fictitious name was an agent and/or employee ofeach and every other defe dant. In doing 

the things alleged in the causes ofaction stated herein, each and every defendant sued der a fictitious 

name was acting within the course and scope of this agency or employment and was cting with the 

consent, permission and authorization of each of the remaining defendants. All a tions of each 

defendant sued under a fictitious name, as alleged in the causes ofaction stated herein, ere ratified and 

approved by every other defendant or its officers or managing agents. 

25. Whenever reference in this Complaint is made to any act ofany defenda t entity named 

herein or other corporate defendant as may be named in future course of this action, uch allegation 

shall be deemed to mean that the officers, directors, agents, subsidiaries, affiliates an employees of 

said defendant did or authorized such act while actively engaged in the managemen , direction, or 

control of affairs of the corporate defendant, and while acting within the course and scope of their 

employment. 

26. The conduct described herein has occurred, and unless enjoined by e Court, will 

continue to occur in this County and elsewhere in the State of California. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

The Insurance Brokerage Industry 

27. California businesses, employers and other entities typically hire ins ance brokers, 

agents or consultants ("brokers") to advise them about insurance coverage needs and t find insurers 

that offer the most suitable coverage and services at the lowest possible price. In this c ntext, a broker 

represents the business or entity as the client's fiduciary agent; obtains price quotes from insurers, 

presents the quotes to the client; and makes recommendations based on factors uch as price, 
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differences in coverage and services, the financial security ofthe insurers in question, d the insurers' 

reputation for service or claims payment. 

28. When the client selects an insurance carrier it typically pays the broker a omm1ss10n or 

an agreed-to-fee for locating the best insurer for its needs, and it pays premiums to the insurance 

company for the selected coverage and/or services. Payment for both purposes is usual! accomplished 

with one payment to the broker. The broker then deducts his commission and forwards the balance of 

the client's premium to the insurance company. 

29. California employers hire insurance brokers to advise them on how to de · gn, obtain and 

modify their employee-benefit packages. This includes group life, accident I death and 

dismemberment, long term disability and group health insurance, as part of their empl yees' benefits 

package. Often employees are approached by the ULR Defendants and Insurer Defend ts to purchase 

supplemental coverage, particularly supplemental life and disability insurance, which is paid for by the 

employee, typically through a payroll deduction program. 

30. The ULR Defendants present what they represent as "proposals" to pote tial clients for 

analyzing and improving the group insurance programs they provide to their employees For example, 

the ULR Defendants may offer to (a) gather information about the employer's gr up insurance 

programs; (b) prepare a financial analysis of and design a proposed new group insur ce program; 

(c) prepare a request for proposal and take the program out to bid; ( d) implement the new plan and 

communicate the plan to employees; and (e) provide ongoing management of the pl n. For these 

services, the ULR Defendants often agree to accept a flat-rate fee or standard commissi n to be paid to 

the broker by the client. 

31. Some of the largest corporations in California are clients of the ULR De endants. The 

ULR Defendants represent the following California companies: Warner Brothers; C rles Schwab; 

Northrop Grumman Corporation; Southern California Edison; Pacific Gas & Electric C 

Sun Microsystems; Silicon Graphics; Intel Corp.; Amdahl Corporation; Altera Corpo ation; Agilent 

Technology; Safeway; Gap, Inc.; Callaway Golf Company; and Fluor Corporation. Th se companies 

collectively employ tens ofthousands ofCalifornians, which are covered underemploye -benefit plans, 
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own billions of dollars worth of property and spend hundreds of millions on insur ce and related 

services. 

32. The ULR Defendants represent that they are highly skilled, indepen ent insurance 

brokerage experts and possess the specialized knowledge and expertise needed t interpret and 

understand the complex and sophisticated business risks and employee-benefit needs faced by their 

clients, and that they have the capability to determine which corresponding insuranc products and 

services and insurance companies best fit their clients' needs. The ULR Defendants rofess to bring 

their clients a broad array of insurance companies which they canvas objectively for th most suitable 

insurance policies at the lowest prices. 

33. The ULR Defendants purport to be acting on behalf of their clients and ncourage their 

clients to rely on their specialized knowledge and expertise in procuring insur nee coverage. 

Consequently, employers do rely on ULR Defendants for assistance in purchasing v ious insurance 

products, including life, accident and disability programs offered as part of their em loyee-benefits 

plans. Further, the ULR Defendants seek and obtain confidential, proprietary, sensiti e and personal 

information relating to their clients and employees. As such, the ULR Defendants creat a confidential 

and/or fiduciary relationship with their clients based on their role as brokers and th ir promises of 

unbiased, independent broking advice on the most efficient and cost effective insuran e products and 

services. 

34. The ULR Defendants also purport to represent the best interests of heir clients in 

advertisements, brochures, internet websites and other promotional materials. 

35. Based on the conduct described above and legal duties imposed on brokers under 

California law, ULR Defendants owe their clients: (a) a duty ofloyalty to act in the est interests of 

their clients and to always put their clients' interests ahead of their own; (b) a duty f full and fair 

disclosure and complete candor, including the duty to disclose the source and amount of all income 

that the broker receives in or as a result of any transaction involving its clients; ( c) a du y ofcare; ( d) a 

duty to provide impartial and honest advice; ( e) a duty to use their best business judgme tin connection 

with any insurance-related products and services purchased by their clients - in other rds to find the 

best coverage at the lowest price; and (f) a duty of good faith and fair dealing. 
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Contingent Commissions and Other Undisclosed Compensation 

36. Although ULR Defendants receive a flat fee or standard commission fr m either their 

clients and/or the Insurer Defendants, they have also entered into undisclosed agreeme s with Insurer 

Defendants for other types of compensation and remuneration such as contingent commissions, 

consulting fees, management fees, profit sharing, communication and/or servicing fees, e ollment fees, 

override agreements and numerous non-monetary gifts that operate as kickbacks for pla ing insurance 

with Insurer Defendants. Thus, ULR Defendants are being paid on both sides of the tr saction, even 

though the ULR Defendants purport to be acting on behalf of their clients. 

adequately disclose these agreements in any meaningful way. 

37. The contingent commission agreements ( aka overrides) provide that Ins er Defendants 

will pay undisclosed fees to ULR Defendants based on (a) the volume ofpremiums gen rated by ULR 

Defendants' sales of Insurer Defendants' products, (b) the growth ofbusiness and rene al of existing 

business, and (c) the profitability ofthe book ofbusiness purchased by ULR Defendant 'clients, i.e., a 

favorable claims and loss ratio with a particular insurer. In the employee-benefits ins ance industry, 

these agreements are called "Preferred Broker Fee/Bonus," "Special Compensation Agreements," 

"Direct Vendor Marketing Agreements," "Override Agreements," "Special Override Agreements," 

"Communication Fees," "Enrollment Fees" and "Service/Administration Fees." Thes fees are built 

into the cost base of the policy. 

38. The ULR Defendants are paid a percentage of the total premium dollar laced with the 

carrier, called an "Override Fee," after achieving a specified premium, persistency and/ r profitability 

level as dictated by the Insurer Defendants. These fees can be exorbitant, sometimes % of the total 

amount of business that the broker places in an entire year. ULR Defendants i struct Insurer 

Defendants to build Override Fees into the cost of the plans that Insurer Defendant offer to ULR 

Defendants' clients. Therefore, ULR Defendants' clients ultimately pay the cost of the e undisclosed 

fees through higher premiums. ULR Defendants refuse to place their clients' business 

do not pay overrides. It is ULR Defendants' policy and practice not to disclose to thei clients that an 

additional fee will be paid by Insurer Defendants and factored into the clients' plan . Nor is ULR 

Defendants' additional compensation disclosed to state or federal regulatory agencies. 
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39. MetLife, Prudential, UnumProvident and CIGNA have all paid UL Defendants' 

Override Fees, which are geared both toward overall volume of business placed by LR and case-

specific client placement or renewal. 

40. MetLife, Prudential, UnumProvident and CIGNA also offer "Broker onus Plans," 

through which they pay additional compensation to brokers in return for placing a ce ain amount of 

business with CIGNA in a given year and maintaining a high persistency level with ir clients. 

41. In addition, each of the Insurer Defendants has paid ULR Defendants C mmunication 

Fees - a per employee charge for each client whose employees purchase optional supp emental group 

life and/or disability insurance - whether or not the employee actually receives or el cts to receive 

coverage. This compensation is not disclosed, and while purporting to be a "Communi ation" Fee, the 

claimed services either do not exist or bear no relation to the amount of such fees. 

42. Although the Communication Fee is paid by the Insurer Defendants, t ey recoup the 

amount by building it into the premium rates charged to the client's employees and d pendents who 

choose optional or supplemental insurance coverage (including dependent coverage). L · e the override 

fee, the Communication Fee is not disclosed to the client or its employees. If it is disclo ed at all, such 

disclosure is woefully inadequate and is buried in the fine print of a voluminous contr ct. 

43. The following are a few examples ofdefendants' concealment of these v ious fees. In 

February 2003, ULR was employed by Brinker International, Inc. ("Brinker") to place B inker's Group 

Life and Optional Life plans. In soliciting a proposal for defendant CIGNA, ULR rep esented: 

[T]he communications fees ... should not be communicated to the client without ULR's 
prior consent. The cost for this project can be factored into the Optional Li e plan 
overhead or in the carrier's general overhead, but should not impact any othe client 
plans, i.e., Basic Life. 

44. In March 2004, an employee-benefits broker which represented retail g"ant Wal-Mart, 

emailed defendant Prudential to inquire whether Prudential included a Communica ion Fee in its 

premium rates for employee supplemental coverage. Ifso, the broker inquired, would P dential reduce 

the premium rate charged to Wal-Mart employees ifhe accepted a significantly smaller C mmunication 

Fee so as to provide the client with "the best possible value"? The Prudential executi e responded: 

[W]e do build in the cost of communication materials .... The Wa!Mart rates ar not be 
[sic] reduced any further. 
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The inference is that even if the broker accepted a lower Communication Fee, Prude tial would not 

lower the premium rate which included a higher built-in fee. 

45. Similarly, when the same questions were posed by the broker to a Me ife executive, 

also in connection with Wal-Mart, MetLife' s response was reflective ofPrudential's and · ghlighted the 

Insurer Defendants' willingness to comply with the broker's demands: 

The communications we are paying on Wal-Mart ... is included in the rates that e have 
offered. If you were to ask us to pay communications costof$3 or $6 peremplo ee, we 
would build the additional expenses ... into our rates. 

At the time of this email correspondence, MetLife was paying $10 per employee in C mmunication 

Fees to ULR Defendants. When later asked why MetLife paid these fees, which resuite in higher rates 

to the insured, the same MetLife executive responded, "[w]e build this in because the roker tells us 

to," referring to ULR. 

46. Finally, ULR client Chevron/Texaco approached MetLife and inqu red about the 

existence and/or impact of Communication Fees on their premium rates. Both the he d of Sales and 

head of Product Development at MetLife denied the existence of such Communicatio Fees. 

47. Communication Fees are a pretext for undisclosed commissions and k ckbacks. The 

ULR Defendants attempt to justify Communication Fees which are typically $10-$20 pe employee, by 

claiming they prepare a brochure for distribution to employees. The cost ofpreparing a d distributing 

these brochures is a few dollars at most. Some of this nation's largest corporations, incl ding Bankers 

Trust, Kodak, Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company, BP Amoco, Lucent Techno ogies, Waste 

Management, Inc., and United Air Lines, Inc., have unwittingly paid millions of dollars in 

Communication Fees for such negligible or non-existent services. 

48. Unlike defendants here, certain insurers and brokers refuse to p y or receive 

Communication Fees, due to the lack of adequate disclosure to the client. One exam le is St. Paul-

based Minnesota Life Insurance Company, which refused to do business with ULR be ause ULR did 

not adequately disclose fees imposed on employees. ULR has also lost clients, such a Ashland Oil, 

when they discovered that ULR was lying to them about the fees it was receiving in co ection with its 

insurance policies. 
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49. Because the payment and receipt ofoverrides and Communication Fees p esent a blatant 

conflict, neither the broker nor the insurer discloses the nature or amount of these pay ents to clients 

and regulators. As a consequence, clients, analysts and regulators have difficulty ascert ining whether 

and to what extent brokers receive contingent commissions from insurers, and to what xtent insurers 

pay such commissions to brokers. 

50. A January 14, 2004 JP Morgan report assessing the impact of "increa ed regulatory 

scrutiny" on contingent commission agreements is telling. JP Morgan predicted that inc eased scrutiny 

would "result in greater disclosure of' those agreements, which in turn "could negative! affect broker 

earnings." JP Morgan characterized the current level of disclosure as "weak and in omplete," and 

expected "an outcry for reform from insureds." Its research confirmed that "most b okers will not 

disclose contingent revenue to the investment community," let alone to the insureds. In ct, JP Morgan 

has reported brokers' admissions that "contingent commissions are traditionally n t disclosed to 

insureds." 

51. The industry itself recognizes that undisclosed contingent commissio s corrupts the 

entire process. Clients are misled into thinking they are receiving impartial advic and quality, 

economical insurance products and services when, in fact, the broker is steering them to ards products 

that will maximize the broker's profits to the detriment of the client. The Risk nd Insurance 

Management Society, Inc. ("RIMS") stated in a press release dated August 24, 2004: 

We believe that undisclosed contingency fees have the potential to compromise every 
basis upon which this relationship is built. In an effort to preserve the integrity of this 
relationship, RIMS strongly advocates for complete and full disclosure ofcompe sation 
agreements without client request. 

52. Notably, full disclosure of compensation agreements is required b the IRS and 

Department of Labor ("DOL") rules. Most benefit plans are required to follow DOL Jes governing 

compensation arrangements. The rules mandate that broker compensation arrangement must be fully 

disclosed to the plan's fiduciary. If the broker fails to disclose all compensation arrange ents, the DOL 

can penalize the broker and even the client. The receipt of undisclosed compensatio is prohibited. 

Further, under 29 U.S.C. § 1023(a), insurance companies must disclose all commissions nd fees paid to 
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I the broker who placed the employee-benefit plan. In particular, all compensation paid t brokers must 

be disclosed on the Form 5500 (including Schedule A thereto) filed with the IRS and 

53. However, Insurer Defendants have concealed these payments from em loyee-benefit 

plans and the IRS. Insurers must supply information regarding the amount of "ins 

commissions paid to agents, brokers and other persons" to the plan for purposes of its 

reflected in the Form 5500 filed for Intel's Group Life and Accidental Death and D"smemberment 

Insurance Plan in 2001, UnumProvident told the plan it had paid Cox $78,951 in com issions for the 

Group life, but nothing in fees; paid Cox $87,189 in commissions but no fees for the roup AD&D 

Plan; and paid Cox $5,500 in commissions but no fees for a Business Travel Accide t Plan. In the 

Form 5500 for 2002, UnumProvident again only reported commissions, in the amo t of $54,730, 

$86,731 and $5,500, respectively. In reality, defendants Cox and ULR earned far more in undisclosed 

commissions, overrides and Communication Fees from UnumProvident. Intel (and its e ployees) paid 

$128 million for Group Life and Accidental Death and Dismemberment coverage n 2001 and a 

comparable amount in 2002. Unbeknownst to Intel and its employees, UnumProvident aid additional 

undisclosed overrides and Communication Fees in excess of $1,000,000 to the ULR efendants for 

200 I and 2002. 

54. Finally, undisclosed fees and remuneration also come in the form oflav sh gifts, travel 

and loans from the Insurer Defendants to the ULR Defendants. For example, defend t CIGNA has 

sponsored trips for defendant Cox to premier vacation destinations. Other Insurer D fondants offer 

similar perks for preferred brokers. 

Steering and "Low Hanging Fruit" 

55. In order to maximize the undisclosed revenue that ULR Defendants re eive from the 

Insurer Defendants, they steer their clients to purchase policies from insurers that o fer contingent 

commissions and other forms ofundisclosed kickbacks, and specifically recommend th se policies and 

terms that they believe will generate the highest kickbacks from the insurer. 

56. For example, ULR advised its client Intel to change its carrier from defen ant CIGNA to 

defendant UnumProvident solely to earn a $1.5 million Communications Fee. ULR did o even though 

UnumProvident rates paid by Intel and its employees were less favorable than CIGN 's. 
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I 57. ULR Defendants steer more than 90% of their business to the Insurer D fondants, with 

MetLife receiving approximately 50% ofULR's business alone. 

58. In addition, ULR Defendants steer clients towards certain types ofplans at permit ULR 

to more easily hide compensation received from Insurer Defendants. For example, UL encourages its 

clients to place their employee-benefit plans with "non-participating" insurers, versus ' participating" 

insurers that pay dividends to their policyholders. The former do not report the speci c components 

that are included in the pricing of the policyholder's premium such as compensatio paid to ULR

Defendants, while the latter must provide such information. In order to maximize th ir undisclosed 

fees, ULR Defendants steer their clients toward non-participating plans. 

 

59. Insurer Defendants also direct brokers to steer business in their direction hrough special 

incentive programs. For example, defendant CIGNA enters into "national agreement "with certain 

brokers such as ULR Defendants, which provide for override fees to those brokers. C NA refers to 

these brokers as its "partners." CIGNA encourages its "partners" to explain rate increase 

at the time of renewal and to persuade the client to remain with CIGNA. Brokers e incentivized 

through these "national agreements" to maintain the business for CIGNA and not to bid out the plan at 

the time of renewal. 

60. One of the most egregious steering practices in which defendants enga e is known as 

"low hanging fruit" in the industry. It is a common industry practice for insurers to ob ain additional 

insurance business by tantalizing brokers with the offer to flip ( or provide ULR) clients ith which they 

have direct insurance contracts (i.e. who are purchasing insurance without a broker) i exchange for 

steering ULR's clients to the insurer. The broker is then able to earn contingent commis ions and other 

undisclosed compensation from the Insurer Defendant on that "flipped" client. The U R Defendants 

have engaged in this practice with CIGNA and other Insurer Defendants. 

Defendants' Tying Arrangements 

61. Finally, defendants have engaged in an anti-competitive practice kno as "tying." 

Tying is a type of leveraging agreement in which the ULR Defendants have promised to steer clients to 

the Insurer Defendants in return for the Insurer Defendants agreeing to pay contingent commissions, 
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I overrides, Communication Fees and other undisclosed fees. Insurer Defendants also instigate tying 

arrangements, such as occurs in the "low hanging fruit" scenario described above. 

Effect of Defendants' Misconduct 

62. Because defendants fail to adequately disclose contingent commissi n agreements, 

overrides, communication fees and other forms ofundisclosed compensation, Californi policyholders 

are not aware of their existence, operation or effect on their insurance contracts. 

63. Moreover, as a result ofdefendants' scheme and common course ofcon uct, California 

policyholders have and continue to suffer injuries in their business or property. Insured paid more for 

insurance and/or received inferior insurance coverage than they would have in the bsence of the 

improper conduct described herein. Defendants' fraudulent scheme and common co se of conduct 

constitutes an ongoing threat to California policyholders and will continue to cause econ mic losses and 

threaten their ability to obtain appropriate insurance coverage at a fair price unless e joined by this 

Court. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Injunctive Relief Pursuant to Insurance Code Section 12928.6 
For Violations of Insurance Code Section 332 

(Against All Defendants) 

64. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained ove as though 

fully set forth herein. 

65. California Insurance Code§ 12928.6 provides: 

Whenever the commissioner believes, from evidence satisfactory to him, that an person 
is violating or about to violate any provisions ofthis code or any order or require entof 
the commissioner issued or promulgated pursuant to authority expressly gra ed the 
commissioner by any provision of this code or by law, the commissioner may ing an 
action in the name of the people of the State of California in the superior cou of the 
State of California against such person to enjoin such person from continui g such 
violation or engaging therein or doing any act in furtherance thereof. In such a tion an 
order or judgment may be entered awarding such preliminary or final injuncti n as is 
proper. 

66. Pursuant to this authority, the Insurance Commissioner seeks to enjoin d fondants from 

violating §332. Section 332, which is entitled "Required disclosures," provides: 

Each party to a contract of insurance shall communicate to the other, in good f: ith, all 
facts within his knowledge which are or which he believes to be material to the c ntract 
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and as to which he makes no warranty, and which the other has not the m ans of 
ascertaining. 

67. For purposes of §332, "materiality" is determined "solely by the probable and reasonable 

influence ofthe facts upon the party to whom the communication is due, in forming his stimate ofthe 

disadvantages of the proposed contract, or in making his inquiries." Cal. Ins. Code § 34. 

68. The acts and practices oflnsurer Defendants alleged herein constitute con uct proscribed 

by §332, in that they have failed to communicate in good faith material facts surroun ·ng, inter alia, 

compensation paid to ULR Defendants; the impact on the premium rates charged to ins ed; the pricing 

ofthe insured' s insurance policies; their steering ofclients to purchase their insurance pr ducts; and the 

terms, benefits or advantages of the insurance policy. Insurer Defendants have also con ealed or made 

false representations regarding these material facts within the meanings of §§330, 331, 58 and/or 359. 

69. ULR Defendants' acts and practices as alleged herein also constitute vio ations of §332 

because they have failed to communicate in good faith material facts surrounding, i fer alia, their 

representation of the insured; their representation of Insurer Defendants; their receip of contingent 

commissions, overrides, fees, and other compensation that are ultimately borne by t e insured; the 

impact of such payments on their representation and advice to the insured; their steerin practices; the 

pricing of the insured's insurance policies; and the terms, benefits, or advantages o the insurance 

policy. Alternatively, ULR Defendants have violated §332 as Insurer Defendant ' agents, co-

conspirators, and/or aiders and abettors. ULR Defendants have also concealed or fraud lently omitted 

to communicate material facts within the meaning of §§330, 331,358 and 359. 

70. The above violations of §332 by all defendants constitute cause for t e issuance of 

injunctions against each defendant pursuant to § 12928.6. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Injunctive Relief Pursuant to Insurance Code Section 12928.6 
For Violations oflnsurance Code Sections 790.02 and 790.03(b) 

(Against All Defendants) 

71. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained a ove as though 

fully set forth herein. 
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72. Pursuant to his authority under §12928.6, the Insurance Commissioner eeks to enjoin 

defendants from violating §790.02, entitled "Unfair practices in business of insuran e prohibited." 

Section 790.02 provides: 
I

I 

No person shall engage in this State in any trade practice which is defined in thi article 
as, or determined pursuant to this article to be, an unfair method of competitio or an 
unfair or deceptive act or practice in the business of insurance. 

73. Section 790.03(b) defines the following as an unfair method of competi ion and unfair 

and deceptive acts or practices in the business of insurance: 

Making or disseminating or causing to be made or disseminated before the publi in this 
state, in any newspaper or other publication, or any advertising device, or by public 
outcry or proclamation, or in any other manner or means whatsoever, any sta ement 
containing any assertion, representation or statement with respect to the busi ess of 
insurance or with respect to any person in the conduct ofhis or her insurance b siness, 
which is untrue, deceptive, or misleading, and which is known, or which by the e ercise 
of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue, deceptive, or misleading. 

74. The acts and practices ofall defendants' as alleged herein constitute coniuct proscribed 

by §790.02, as defined by §790.03(b), in that they have made or caused to be made untruf, deceptive, or 

misleading statements about their scheme and common course of conduct described in tis complaint, 

which they knew or should have known were untrue, deceptive or misleading. 

75. The above violations of §790.02 by all defendants constitute cause for e issuance of 

injunctions against each defendant pursuant to§ 12928.6. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Injunctive Relief Pursuant to Insurance Code Section 12928.6 
For Violations oflnsurance Code Sections 790.02 and 790.03(c) 

(Against All Defendants) 

76. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained afove as though 

fully set forth herein. , 

77. Pursuant to his authority under §12928.6, the Insurance Commissioner Jeeks to enjoin 

defendants from violating §790.02, which is set forth above. l 
78. Section 790.03( c) defines the following as an unfair method of competi · on and unfair 

and deceptive acts or practices in the business of insurance: 

Entering into any agreement to commit, or by any concerted action committing, yact 
of boycott, coercion or intimidation resulting in or tending to result in unreas nable 
restraint of, or monopoly in, the business of insurance. 
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79. Defendants' acts and practices as alleged herein constitute a violation of§790.02 in that 

defendants' compensation agreements, steering and illicit tying practice have involved cts ofboycott, 
I 

coercion or intimidation resulting in or tending to result in an unreasonable restraint of, r monopoly in, 

the business of insurance, within the meaning of §790.03(c). 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Injunctive Relief Pursuant to Insurance Code Section 12928.6 
For Violations oflnsurance Code Section 781 

(Against All Defendants) 
! 

81. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained a~ove as though 

fully set forth herein. I 

82. Pursuant to his authority under §12928.6, the Insurance Commissioner ~eeks to enjoin 

defendants from violating §781, which provides: ! 

A person shall not make any misrepresentation ( a) to any other person for the pn.lose of 
inducing, or tending to induce, such other person either to take out a policy of i;t;;:ance, 
or to refuse to accept a policy issued upon an application therefor and instead tf1ke out 
any policy in another insurer, or ! 

(b) To a policyholder in any insurer for the purpose of inducing or tending to ind~ce him 
to lapse, forfeit or surrender his insurance therein. ! 

A person shall not make any representation or comparison of insurers or polici s to an 
insured which is misleading, for the purpose of inducing or tending to induce him to 
lapse, forfeit, change or surrender his insurance, whether on a temporary or pe anent 
plan. 

83. The acts and practices ofULR Defendants alleged herein constitute vio ations of §781 

because ULR has made misrepresentations for the purpose of inducing, or tending to in uce, persons to 

take out or change their policies of insurance and/or to place policies of insurance w th a particular 

insurance carrier instead of another. ULR Defendants have made misleading rep esentations or 

comparisons of insurers and/or insurance policies in connection with placing such polic es with Insurer 

Defendants. 

84. The above violations of §781 by all defendants constitute cause for e issuance of 

injunctions against each defendant pursuant to § 12928.6. 
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I FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Injunctive Relief Pursuant to Insurance Code Section 12928.6 
For Violations of Insurance Code Section 1065.1 

(Against All Defendants) I 

85. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained aiove as though 

fully set forth herein. I 

86. Pursuant to his authority under §12928.6, the Insurance Commissioner ~eeks to enjoin 

defendants from violating §I 065 .1, which prohibits persons purporting to do insurance ~usiness in this 
I 

state from conducting their "business and affairs in a manner which is hazardous to its policyholders, 
I 

creditors or the public .... " 

87. The acts and practices of defendants alleged herein constitute violatiors of§ 1065.1 

because the manner in which defendants have and continue to conduct their business rd affairs has 

resulted in loss and continues to pose a risk of financial loss to California policyholdef. 

88. The above violations of§ 1065.1 by all defendants constitute cause for le issuance of 

injunctions against each defendant pursuant to §12928.6. 
1 

I 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Injunctive Relief Pursuant to Insurance Code Section 12928.6 
For Violations of Insurance Code Section 1759.10 

(Against ULR Defendants) i 

i 

89. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained a~ove as though 

fully set forth herein. j 
90. Pursuant to his authority under §12928.6, the Insurance Commissioner eeks to enjoin 

I 

ULR from violating§ 1759.10, which provides: : 

No person shall act as, or hold himself out to be, an administrator in this state, o~r than 
an adjuster licensed in this state for the kinds of business for which he is actin as an 
administrator, unless he holds a certificate of registration as an administrator iss ed by 
the commissioner. I 

I 

91. Section 1759 defines an administrator as: I

I 

[ A ]ny person who collects any charge or premium from, or who adjusts or settlestlaims 
on, residents of this state in connection with life or health insurance cove ge or 
annuities or coverage described in Section 740 .... 

I 

I 
I 
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I 

92. The acts and practices of ULR as alleged herein constitute violation~ of §1759.10 
I 

because ULR provides services as an administrator, within the meaning of§ 1759, but h~lds no license 

to do so in this State. , 
! 

93. The aforementioned violations of the Insurance Code by ULR Defend~ts constitute 

cause for the issuance of injunctions against said defendants pursuant to §12928.6. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for judgment against defendants and each of th1m as follows: 

A. For preliminary, permanent and mandatory injunctions, enjoining all derendants, their 

officers, agents, affiliates, servants and employees, and all other persons acting under, i* concert with, 
I 

or for them, from engaging or performing, directly or indirectly, any and all of the foljowing acts, to 

wit: 
I 

(i) paying or receiving any form of compensation or remuneration in connection 

with an insurance policy and/or insurance services without full, complete and adequate d sclosure to the 
i 

insured or insurance service purchaser regarding all material facts, including the rature of any 

compensation agreement and all income or other remuneration paid or received in conn~ction 
I 

with that 

transaction; 
I 
I 

(ii) steering insurance business toward or away from any insurer basf, even in part, 

on any fees received by or from any insurer, including contingent commissions, comm~nication fees, 
I 

promises of other business or similar agreements; 

(iii) directing a broker to steer business toward a particular insurer of vice versa; 

(iv) any act or practice that entails the tying of insurance and related! services to 
I 

the payment of contingent commissions, communication fees or other remuneration o~ promises of 

other clients or transactions; 
i 

(v) any other unfair method of competition and unfair and deceptiv¢ act or 
! 

practice in the business of insurance; 
I 

(vi) any other act or practice in violation of the California InsuranceiCode, 

California Code of Regulations, or any other order or requirement of the Commissiomjr. 
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BURROUGH.S-----,,.:~ 

' 

B. An order imposing a trust upon defendants' ill-gotten monies and ~eezing all of 

defendants' funds acquired by means of any act or practice declared by this Court to b¢ a violation of 
I 

the Insurance Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder; 

C. For plaintiff's costs of suit and attorneys' fees; and 

D. For such other and further relief as the Court deems proper and just. 

DATED: November 17, 2004 LERACH COUGHLIN STOIA GELL~R 
RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP 

JOHN J. STOIA, JR. 
THEODORE J. PINTAR 
BONNY E. SWEENEY 
TIMOTHY G. BLOOD 
JAMES D. MCNAMARA 
AMEL! 

401 Street, Suite 1700 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619/231-1058 
619/231-7423 (fax) 

LERACH COUGHLIN STOIA GELL~R 
RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP 

RACHEL L. JENSEN 
100 Pine Street, Suite 2600 
San Francisco, CA 94111 
Telephone: 415/288-4545 
415/288-4534 (fax) 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE 
GARY M. COHEN 
ANTONIO A. CELAYA 
LARAB. SWEAT 
45 Fremont Street 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
Telephone: 415/538-4000 
415/904-5490 (fax) 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE 
CHRISTOPHER A. CITKO 
300 Capitol Mall, Suite 1700 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
Telephone: 916/492-3500 
916/324-1883(fax) 
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EDITH M. KALLAS 
J. DOUGLAS RICHARDS 
MICHAEL M. BUCHMAN 
JOSEPH P. GUGLIELMO 
LILI SABO 
One Pennsylvania Plaza 
New York, NY 10119 
Telephone: 212/594-5300 
212/868-1229 (fax) 

BONNETT, F AIRBOURN, FRIEDMAN 
& BALINT, P.C. 

ANDREW S. FRIEDMAN 
2901 N. Central Avenue 
Suite 1000 
Phoenix, AZ 85012 
Telephone: 602/274-1100 
602/274-1199 (fax) 

WHATLEY DRAKE LLC 
JOE R. WHATLEY, JR. 
CHARLENE FORD 
RICHARD FRANKOWSKI 
OTHNI LATHRAM 
GRACE GRAHAM 
2323 Second Avenue, North 
Birmingham, AL 35203 
Telephone: 205/328-9576 
205/328-9669 (fax) 

DRUBNERHARTLEY & O'CONNER 
JAMES R. HARTLEY, JR. 
BRIAN CLIFFORD 
GARY O'CONNOR 
500 Chase Parkway, 4th Floor 
Waterbury, CT 06708 
Telephone: 203/753-9291 
203/753-6373 (fax) 

JAMES, HOYER, NEWCOMER 
& SMILJANICH, P.A. 

W. CHRISTIAN HOYER 
JOHN Y ANCHUNIS 
KATHLEEN KNIGHT 
CHRISTOPHER CASPER 
4830 West Kennedy Blvd. 
Urban Centre One, Suite 550 
Tampa, FL 33609 
Telephone: 813/286-4100 
813/286-4174 (fax) 
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I 
PARRY, DEERING, FUTSCHER 

& SPARKS, PSC 
ROBERTR. SPARKS 
P.O. Box 2618 
Covington, KY 41012-2618 
Telephone: 859/291-9000 
859/291-9300 (fax) 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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